FILED

DEC 23 2016

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

93963.2

No. 74039-3-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

MICHAEL DURLAND, KATHLEEN FENNELL, and DEER HARBOR BOATWORKS,

Appellants,

v.

SAN JUAN COUNTY, WESLEY HEINMILLER, ALAN STAMEISEN, and SUNSET COVE LLC,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT

Dennis D. Reynolds
DENNIS D. REYNOLDS LAW OFFICE
200 Winslow Way West, Suite 380
Bainbridge Island, WA 98110
(206) 780-6777 Phone
(206) 780-6865 Fax
Counsel for Appellant

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are Michael Durland, Kathleen Fennell and Deer Harbor Boatworks (collectively "Petitioners").

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION FOR WHICH REVIEW IS SOUGHT

The Petitioners seek review, pursuant to RAP 13.4, of an unpublished opinion of the Washington Court of Appeals, Division I, entered September 12, 2016 ("Durland II"). That decision is attached as **Appendix A-1**. The Court of Appeals denied Petitioners' timely Motion for Reconsideration and Motion to Supplement, by order dated November 17, 2016. That order is attached as **Appendix A-2**.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Whether the Supreme Court should accept review of a decision of the Court of Appeals that is directly contrary to existing case law from the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals concerning: (1) the Doctrine of Finality and (2) the law of contemporaneous public policy, which protect the public from the whims of local permit decision-making?
- B. Whether the Supreme Court should accept review of a decision of the Court of Appeals that allows inconsistent and arbitrary decisions, contradicting long-standing government practices, and undermining the public's confidence, all contrary to Growth Management Act policies,

RCW 36.70A.020(6) (permit processing should "ensure predictability").

- C. Whether the Supreme Court should exercise its constitutionally-required judicial role in imposing "checks and balances" to curb the powers of legislative officials who act in a way to achieve a politically-motivated result contrary to the facts and law?
- D. Whether the Supreme Court should intervene to protect citizens from fluctuating policy and affirmative choices to ignore evidence in the record by the County's legal officer in which he fails to defend the County's Building Official's position on a contested permit?

IV. INTRODUCTION

The role of the Washington Supreme Court is to set legal policy for the State. Here, the quasi-judicial process ventured far astray from fairness, predictability, due process and property rights protections because elected County officials felt political pressure to excuse violations of an ordinance when a barn was illegally built within a required 10-foot setback. They further excused violations of local regulations when the barn in question **was** converted from an uninhabited building to a dwelling unit. This is decision-making on the fly with no predictability.

When San Juan County ("the County") learned of the code violations, it issued an order to demolish the barn. Respondent Heinmiller/Stameisen ("Heinmiller") found building permit paperwork

and plans for the barn, and the County was convinced that a permit had been issued with a required 10-foot setback. The County located additional documents that confirmed a building permit was issued. The County issued a Notice of Correction in 2008 (AR 00012) and an Agreed Compliance Plan on April 25, 2008 (AR 00039). Had Heinmillers not located the permit, they would have been ordered to remove the barn.

In a subsequent proceeding on the same barn, the Examiner ruled that he could not legally uphold the Compliance Plan. Then everything shifted, resulting in new holdings that: (1) a permit was not needed, (2) the 10-foot setback did not apply based upon a *sui generis* interpretation of a local law, and (3) there was not "sufficient proof" that a permit had issued, notwithstanding that Respondents consistently produced evidence to support a finding a permit was issued to avoid a tear down of the barn.

Without factual or legal basis, the Examiner concluded the barn was "legal" and could be converted as a "legal nonconforming use." The decision is at odds with everything in the record and reverses decades of consistent administration of the law in question by County officials.

On review in *Durland II*, the Court of Appeals agreed with the Hearings Examiner, that, if the building permit was issued, then the law of finality prevails. Both the County and the Heinmillers had taken the position that a building permit *had* issued. The Deputy Prosecuting

Attorney, Jon Cain, also argued before the Court of Appeals in *Durland I*¹ that a building permit was issued.² But this time, the Court of Appeals ignored judicial admissions, accepted the speculative contention that a permit had not issued., and blessed the shenanigans of Respondents for disavowing their position on building permits to suit their present goal.

For the Examiner to cast aside all prior evidence concerning the building permit for the barn is "results-oriented jurisprudence" at its finest. This runs afoul of the Doctrine of Finality and sets a precedent whereby any jurisdiction can change its mind on whether a permit³ should have been granted – years later - and if so, add conditions of approval, delete others, and then, assert its decision is entitled to deference. Washington courts do not tolerate such arbitrary and capricious decision-making.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Barn was Constructed Within a 10-Foot Setback.

In 1981, Heinmillers' predecessor-in-interest William G. Smith

¹ Durland v. San Juan County ("Durland I"), 174 Wn.2d 1, 6, 298 P.3d 757 (2012) ("In 1981, the County issued a building permit for a storage barn to Smith. The permit approved a barn that was to be built 10 feet from the property line shared with the Durland property").

² The extent to which a party may contradict his own testimony is discussed in E. Cleary, McCormick's Handbook of the Law of Evidence § 266 (2d ed. 1972). Whitney v. State, 24 Wn. App. 836, 840-41, 604 P.2d 990 (1979). In Washington, "a party's testimony may be contradicted by other evidence except when he testifies unequivocally to matters within his peculiar knowledge" (emphasis added). The evidence must control over testimony to the contrary. Bohnsack v. Kirkham, 72 Wn.2d 183, 432 P.2d 554 (1967).

³ Applicants submit that such a precedent could undermine any number of governmentissued permits: liquor licenses, marriage licenses, food handling permits, driver's licenses, etc.

knowingly constructed a barn within a 10-foot yard setback on the property line shared with Durland. (AR 00013, 00138, 00139) This violated the San Juan County Code, which states: "No structure built pursuant to this article shall be located closer than 10 feet to any property line." SJCC § 15.04.620; County Resolution No. 224.

Mr. Durland purchased his property in 1986. He discovered the setback violation during the permitting process for his business.

(AR 00605-606) At the Shoreline/Conditional Use hearings in 1986/1987, the storage barn was considered a buffer between the light industrial boatyard use on Durland's land and the residential use of Smith's property. (AR 00607-611) Mr. Durland agreed to a 20-foot setback buffer that prohibited him from building any closer to the uninhabited Barn, thereby establishing sensible buffers for the two properties. (AR 00097, 00098-00107)⁴ As the Court recognized in *Durland I*, Durland "did not ... want the barn to be used for residential purposes for fear of conflicts with the industrial use of his property." 174 Wn. App. at 7 n.2.

B. Heinmiller Converted the Barn to an ADU Without Permits.
 Heinmiller purchased the Smith property in 1995 and proceeded to

⁴ The Examiner affirmatively ruled in Conclusion of Law 5 that the agreement did not correct the setback violation and there has been no revision or amendment to the building permit approved in 1981. (Decision, p.10). He concluded that a reduced setback (if one had been approved) should have been incorporated into a revised or amended building permit approval. There is no evidence of such approval in the record.

convert the Barn into an approximately 1,000 square foot ADU without permits. (AR 00012) Pursuant to the 2008 Compliance Plan, Heinmiller applied for an after-the-fact building permit, a change of use permit and an ADU permit. The Appellants appealed these approvals to the Hearing Examiner in 2010. (AR 00028-31) On July 23, 2010, the Examiner issued the "Original Decision" denying Appellants' appeal. In this ruling, he acknowledged the barn violated set-back requirements of Resolution No. 224, but ruled it was "corrected" by the Compliance Plan which could not be "collaterally attacked." (AR 00015-00016) (emphasis added).

C. The Court of Appeals Reversed and Remanded.

Durland appealed the Original Decision to the Court of Appeals, which reversed. *Durland I*. The proceedings established that San Juan County has required a 10-foot setback since 1981 when the barn was built. *See Durland I*, 174 Wn. App. at 6, n. 1, *citing* Resolution No. 224. *See also* SJC 58-1977. The Court ruled that the 1986/1987 agreement was expressly based on the fact the barn would remain uninhabited. *Id.* at 7, n.2. The Court directed the Examiner to hold a new hearing because the Compliance Plans were not determinative. *Id.* at 19, 26.

D. The County Did Not Authorize a Departure From the Setback.
The 2014 Pre-Remand Hearing Order presented the central question

⁵ The Original Decision is AR 00001-24. A copy is attached hereto as **Appendix A-3**.

whether the County authorized a departure from the 10-foot setback required by Resolution 224-1975?⁶ (AR 00413-416) The Examiner held a hearing on November 12, 2014 and left the record open until March 15, 2015 to allow the litigants time to present evidence on whether the County had allowed a "departure" from the setback.

A County Plans Checker then issued a "supplemental" Staff Report which argued the County had been in error in stating that a building permit had been issued for the barn and/or that a 10-foot setback was required.⁷ The County disavowed the supplemental Staff Report via Sam Gibboney, the Director of Community Development and Planning, opposing the contents of the report because it is "factually inaccurate and states conclusions that are at odds with the building permit records held by San Juan County" and "the report does not represent the position of San Juan County and was an unauthorized submittal…" (AR 00858) Ms. Gibboney further stated, consistent with *Durland I*, a building permit was issued for the barn and submitted additional exhibits to document the fact. (AR 00859) The Examiner refused to consider the evidence submitted by the County to refute the unauthorized supplemental Staff Report. (Decision,

⁶ A copy is attached hereto as Appendix A-4.

⁷ The assertion that no building permit had been issued was apparently withdrawn, although the Decision does not make any clear finding or conclusion that a building permit was, or was not issued, despite substantial evidence in the record that a permit was issued to Mr. Smith and the prior judicial admissions. (AR 00039, 00146-00149, 00186)

p.8) The submitted materials included:

- A 1981 payment receipt from William Smith for cost of the building permit issued for the Barn.
- A hand written ledger documenting building permits issued in 1981, showing a building permit for the Barn issued to Bill Smith.

(County's response to Applicant's motion to supplement).⁸ It is important to note the distinction between the determination of Department Heads and County Staff (who all agree a permit was issued) and the County Council that has been instructing its attorney to argue contrary to the Staff position. This is the very purpose of a system of checks and balances.

E. The Hearing Examiner Denied the Appeal and Granted Permits for the Barn's Conversion to an ADU.

The Hearing Examiner issued his decision on remand on March 15, 2015. The Decision, as noted, correctly recognized that the Compliance Plan "did not excuse compliance with the ten-foot side yard setback requirement." (Decision, p.7, Ln. 23). The record contains no evidence of any County decision approving a setback variance or other "departure" from the requirement. *See also* Conclusion of Law 5, Decision, p.10. This should have led to denial of the permits. But, the Examiner ruled: (1) no building permit was required for the barn in 1981; (2) the barn was exempt

⁸ The record includes the County's response to Heinmiller's motion to supplement (AR 858-861) but not the attachments to the response. Those attachments are included here as **Appendix A-5.**

from side-yard setback requirements as a "Class J" occupancy structure in 1981 under County Resolution No. 58-1977; and (3) even though no residential structure is permitted within a 10-foot side-yard setback, the conversion of the barn to an ADU in this location is allowed. (Decision, p.11, 13). The Examiner did not rule whether a building permit had issued for the barn, but did acknowledge that if the building permit was issued, then the law of finality prevails. Not one witness testified that no permit was issued, only that they could not "find" the permit (likely because of a fire that destroyed some County records), notwithstanding all other evidence that shows a permit was issued, and the prior judicial admissions of Heinmillers and the County when such a fact worked to their advantage (i.e., to prevent an order requiring the barn to be demolished).

F. LUPA Appeal

Appellants appealed the Decision to the Superior Court. CP 1-109. In a summary decision, the Court denied the LUPA appeal. CP 1526-27. The lower court was impressed that the structure had been in place for a substantial period of time, and thus, according to the superior court judge, under the doctrine of finality, the mere passage of time had made the barn a legal building. (Oral Opinion, August 31, 2015 (Verbatim Report of Proceedings), p.6, lines 11-24). A timely appeal followed. CP 1528-33.

G. Court of Appeals Decision and Denial of Reconsideration.

The Court of Appeals also affirmed the decision, with a misplaced statement that the use of a Stamp on Smith permitting documents that affirmatively states a 10-foot setback is required and references Res. 58-1977 (the law on which the Examiner the Trial Court relied on as "deleting setback requirements") is not relevant because Durland did not show "detrimental reliance" on the stamp. The stamp is evidence of the County's long-term policy and its interpretation of the law, which is contrary to the holding of the Examiner. There is no need to show "reliance" as it is merely evidence of how the County interpreted and applied the law in 1981.

Appellants filed a motion to reconsider and requested the Court of Appeals to take judicial notice of San Juan County responses to public records act requests propounded by Mr. Durland to the County. The documents provided further demonstration that the County consistently and regularly required building permits for Class J agricultural buildings in 1981 at the same time and of the same type as the Smith Barn. The documents also show that the County had advised Durland that no copies of the building permit existed for the Heinmillers' barn, even though the handwritten ledger and payment receipt were later discovered through Durland's PRA request. The Court of Appeals denied both motions.⁹

⁹ Copies of these documents are attached hereto as Appendix A-6.

VI. GROUNDS FOR RELIEF AND LEGAL ARGUMENT

This appeal is not about Mr. Durland versus the Heinmillers or the County. Fundamentally, it is about the County Council failing to administer the San Juan County Home Rule Charter which obligates it to "Ensure that all actions of the County are compliant with all federal, Washington State, San Juan County codes, laws and procedures, and this Charter,...." Charter, § 2.31(3)(c). The issues require this Court to affirmatively rule that no land use permits can be challenged or reversed ad hoc by local government. It matters not how many years have passed, nor whether one believes there is "harm" in failing to enforce the terms of the permit issued. The character of the litigants has no legal bearing on the outcome of the matter.

A. Introduction.

The Supreme Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(l) and (b)(2), because the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with longstanding case law established by the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals concerning the doctrine of finality and the law of contemporaneous public policy, as cited on pp.13-14, *infra*. The Supreme Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because the decision of the Court of Appeals raises significant issues regarding interpretation of a local law which is contrary to long-standing administrative practice.

A principle of land use law is that once an illegal building, always an illegal building. The County applied the setback requirement to the barn in 1981 and never waived or repealed it. The law of this case is that San Juan County imposed a 10-foot setback for an unoccupied barn constructed by William G. Smith: "In 1981, the County issued a building permit for a storage barn to Smith. The permit approved a barn that was to be built ten feet from the property line shared with the Durland property. The barn was constructed that year." 10

The Examiner had leave to consider a "departure" from the setback, but found none. There was no cross-appeal of this ruling. Heinmiller could not make the showing for a departure, because impacts on adjoining uses are one of the considerations when reviewing an application of a side-yard variance. *E.g.*, SJCC § 18.80.100.E.4 (requiring that "[t]he granting of the variance will not be materially detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to the right of other property owners in the vicinity."). The Examiner permitted Heinmiller to evade these standards.

B. Substantial Evidence Supports Issuance of a Building Permit Imposing a 10-Foot Setback.

The record amply demonstrates that a building permit was issued and that such permit required compliance with the 10-foot setback. AR

12

¹⁰ Durland I, 174 Wn. App. at 6.

00039 (Compliance Plan), AR 000146 (Building Inspection Permit for Storage Barn), AR 00147 (Site Plan), AR 00149 (Building Plan, 1981), AR 00186 (Barn Building Plans- approved by San Juan County, 10-15-81), AR 00858 (R-22 San Juan County Response to Motion to Supplement). See the Building Inspection Report, Code Checklist, and stamped "Approved" Building Plan, and Texmo Building Plans; stamp stating: "All Structures shall be a minimum 10 feet from adjacent property lines. S.J. Co. 58-77." (Appendix A-6). The Examiner's ruling is unsupported by substantial evidence. To the extent required, this Court can also consider the attachments to the County's response to Heinmiller's motion to supplement (Appendix A-5). See Assignment of Error B.¹¹

C. The 10-Foot Setback Applied to the Parcel and Barn Structure May Not Be Collaterally Attacked Thirty Years Later.

The Examiner's "reconsideration" of whether the 10-foot setback applied to the parcel and the Barn impermissibly contradicts the 1981 permit. The doctrine of finality prevents revisiting the terms of that permit now. *See Chelan County v. Nykreim*, 146 Wn.2d 904, 931, 52 P.3d 1 (2002). This is so even if a permit was issued in error. The building permit was issued and its requirements are determinative. The Examiner's

¹¹ Conclusion of Law No. 2 of the Decision (p.8) shows the supplemental Staff Report influenced the Examiner's decision. Failure to allow a proper rebuttal violates due process. See Rabon v. City of Seattle (Rabon II), 107 Wn. App. 734, 743-44, 34 P.3d 821 (2001); Nguyen v. Dep't of Health Med. Quality Assurance Comm'n, 144 Wn. 2d 516, 522-23, 29 P.3d 689 (2001).

Decision recognizes that building permits not timely challenged are "final" and cannot be collaterally attacked. Decision, Conclusion of Law 11 (p.12). However, he failed to rule that a structure built in violation of applicable regulations and the contrary to the terms of final, unchallenged building permits cannot be considered legal. *See Rhod-A-Zalea & 35th, Inc. v. Snohomish County*, 136 Wn.2d 1, 6, 959 P.2d 1024 (1998); SJCC §§ 18.80.120(A) and 18.40.310(D).

The County has never rescinded the building permit as "improperly approved." Thus, the Examiner and lower courts erred in excusing the 10-foot setback, thereby creating a dangerous exception to the law that if the passage of time is long enough, or the applicants are the "right people," or the appellant is the "wrong person," everything is fine. This is a "stop the world, I want to get off" result. As the Washington Supreme Court recognized:

If this court allows local government to rescind a previous land use approval without concern of finality, innocent property owners relying on a county's land use decision will be subject to change in policy whenever a new County Planning Director disagrees with a decision of the predecessor director. [Amicus curiae] also assert that land use decisions from this court emphasize the need for property owners to rely on an agency's determinations with reasonable certainty.

Nykriem, 146 Wn.2d at 933 (footnotes omitted) (emphasis added).

Here, Durland (an innocent property owner) relied on the building

permit decision that has for decades been recognized as requiring compliance with a 10-foot setback. The parties all agreed this is the case, as demonstrated by the 2008 and 2009 compliance plans, and as set forth by the Court of Appeals in its decision in *Durland I*.

D. The Interpretation of Setback Requirements is Contrary to Law.

The Examiner's statutory construction of Res. 58-1977 is the cornerstone of his decision that the County deleted setback requirements for "Class J" structures such that the barn could be considered nonconforming. Although there is no legal basis for the Examiner to even reach the question based upon the remand instruction, his construction was erroneous. Mr. Smith's project was subject to County regulations in 1981 when it was constructed, which were not modified by Res. 58-1977.

Courts assess the plain meaning of a statutory enactment "viewing the words of a particular provision in the context of the statute in which they are found, together with related statutory provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole." *Burns v. City of Seattle*, 161 Wn.2d 129, 140, 164 P.3d 475 (2007). The subject, nature, and purpose of the statute as well as the consequences of adopting one interpretation over another are also considered. *Id.* at 146.

Res. 58-1977 is entitled "A Resolution Amending Resolution 224-1975, Providing for Changes in Application, Administration and Enforcement of the State Building Code in San Juan County." Not one

sentence changes, deletes or modifies in any manner the land use performance requirement of side yard setbacks. Deletion of any performance requirements was not the purpose of the Resolution.

Section 9.01 of Res. 58-1977, which applies to Class J structures such as the Barn, repeals only those provisions of Res. 224-1975 and the UBC that require persons to obtain a permit, pay a fee, or obtain an inspection because it is "unreasonable" to do so. As confirmed in *State ex rel. Graham v. San Juan County*, 102 Wn.2d 311, 313-14, 686 P.2d 1073 (1984), this was a cost-saving measure and does not address or delete any dimensional requirements – only UBC or building code requirements, not zoning requirements. Res. 58-1977 requires applicants to confirm they are aware of and will abide with setback requirements and gives Class J structure applicants the opportunity to have a building inspector also confirm compliance with regulations such as setbacks through a planscheck. *See* §§ 8.03 and 10 of Res. 58-1977.

Although the requirement for a building permit may have been removed under Resolution No. 58-1977, the Resolution <u>did not</u> include any exemptions from dimensional requirements in Res. 224-1975. Section 8.03 of Res. 58-1977 confirms the setback requirement remained: "The application shall also contain a statement of the setback requirements and the applicant's agreement to comply therewith."

The record shows the County's Dep't of Community Development in 1981 went to the trouble to manufacture a stamp confirming that Resolution 58-1977 still required a 10-foot setback from all property lines, which was the stamp used and appears on the approved Smith site plan for the Barn issued with the building permit. (Appendix A-6). This practice continued over time. The Examiner failed to consider the consequence of his *sui generis* interpretation on those property owners whose Class J plans were so stamped and relied upon. *See Port of Seattle v. Pollution Control Hearings Board*, 151 Wn.2d 569, 593, 90 P.3d 659 (2004) (great deference given to government entity's administration of its own laws).

If this Court accepts review and reverses, it will not only have the opportunity to opine on the policies of finality and predictability (correct the errors) but also the broad public purpose of requiring buildings to be setback from other properties, something the Examiner overlooked.

Property line setbacks and yards are universally accepted as legitimate exercises of the police power. *E.g., Barrie v. Kitsap Cy., 93 Wash.2d 843*, 850, 613 P.2d 1148 (1980); *Sherwood v. Grant Cy.*, 40 Wash.App. 496, 501, 699 P.2d 243 (1985). Zoning codes regulate setbacks, types of uses, height, parking requirements, design (for some types of projects) and similar concerns for the common good. *See Duckworth v. City of Bonney Lake*, 91 Wn.2d 19, 27-28, 586 P.2d 860 (1978). The Examiner's

Decision undermines the stability and consistency of these precepts and is contrary to law.

The County-created stamp that was placed on the permitting documents for the Smith Barn, which refers to both Resolution 58-77 and the required 10-foot setback, shows the error of the Examiner in ruling that no setback was required for the Barn in 1981. Such a conclusion is counter to everything in the record, other than an unauthorized staff report (which was subsequently withdrawn)¹² (CP 892) upon which the Examiner states he did not "rely" upon. There is no evidence to support the Examiner's conclusion, but ample evidence to refute it.¹³

The only person who has questioned the existence of a building permit for the barn is the Hearing Examiner.¹⁴ Respondents have nothing

¹² As set forth in the Declaration of Michael Durland in Support of Reply on Motion for Reconsideration and Motion to Supplement ("Durland Decl."), the attorney for the Heinmillers worked behind the scenes to procure the unauthorized staff report. Durland Decl. ¶8 and Ex. A. In light of this discovery, the County's actions can only be viewed as improperly in collusion with the Heinmillers to the clear disadvantage and detriment of Durland. This submittal by John Geniuch to the Hearings Examiner when he and his attorneys knew that the record was closed resulted in Mr. Geniuch being placed on administrative leave. Durland Decl. ¶8.

¹³ All documents show that a building permit was issued for the Barn which required 10-foot setbacks from adjoining property lines. CP 1507 (Building Inspection Permit for Storage Barn), CP 147, 284-85 (Site Plan), CP 149 (Building Plan, 1981), CP 186 (Barn Building Plans- approved by San Juan County, 10-15-81), CP 858 (R-22 San Juan County Response to Motion to Supplement); CP 1505 (receipt for the permit); and CP 1508 (permit ledger): see also CP 176 (Compliance Plan affirming 10-foot setback for Barn); CP 949-51. See the Building Inspection Report, Code Checklist, and stamped "Approved" Building Plan, and Texmo Building Plans; stamp stating: "All Structures shall be a minimum 10 feet from adjacent property lines. S.J. Co. 58-77.

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