RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jan 17, 2017, 12:38 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 93963-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL DURLAND, KATHLEEN FENNELL, and DEER HARBOR BOATWORKS,

Appellants,

v.

SAN JUAN COUNTY, WES HEINMILLER, ALAN STAMEISEN, and SUNSET COVE LLC

Respondents.

HEINMILLER, STAMEISEN, AND SUNSET COVE LLC'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

John H. Wiegenstein, WSBA #21201 Elisha S. Smith, WSBA #29210 HELLER WIEGENSTEIN PLLC 144 Railroad Ave., Suite 210 Edmonds, WA 98020-4121 (425) 778-2525 (425) 778-2566 FAX Attorneys for Respondents Heinmiller, Stameisen, and Sunset Cove LLC

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

III. ARGUMENT

Durland fails to meet any of the criteria under RAP 13.4. Durland's fundamental problems are (1) that the Hearing Examiner made certain factual determinations that Durland does not agree with, and (2) that Hearing Examiner, the Superior Court, and the Court of Appeals all applied the law in a way that he does not agree with. The evidence before the Hearing Examiner did not establish that a building permit was ever issued for the barn. And even if there had been evidence from which the Examiner *could* have concluded that a permit issued, there was also substantial evidence from which the Examiner could (as he did) find that a permit did *not* issue. And regardless of speculation about a permit, the law, Res. 58-1977, withdrew the barn from any County regulation at all, including setback requirements.

None of the provisions of RAP 13.4 allow for review based on the finder of fact not having found the facts, or applied the law, as the petitioner wished.

A. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with any controlling precedent from this Court.

The decisions of the Superior Court and Court of Appeals do not conflict with this court's precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1). Nowhere does Durland explain how this could be, or cite any case to show this. There is no decision of this court, or the Court of Appeals, holding that San

requirements or other County regulation. See Brief of Respondents Heinmiller and Stameisen (Court of Appeals, Feb. 23, 2016) at 24-28.

12

As in his Court of Appeals briefing, Durland repeatedly states that "the permit" existed, and repeatedly represents to this Court what "the permit" did or did not say. *Petition at 3, 4, 4 n.1, 11, 12, 13, 14, 17, 18.* But "the permit" has never been located or produced, and it is mere speculation by Durland and others in 2008-2015 as to whether one ever existed in 1981, especially in light of the fact that Res. 58-1977 expressly removed Class J structures such as the barn from any permitting

Juan County Res. 58-1977 required a building permit for Class J structures, or holding that setback requirements from the UBC somehow survived and were incorporated into Res. 58-1977. There is no decision of this court, or the Court of Appeals, holding that a low level staffer in a county building department in 1981 can alter the law, or impose new legal obligations, by applying to a document a rubber stamp which contains language inconsistent with the law as adopted by County resolution – even if that document had been an actual building permit. Thus there is no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

As in the courts below, Durland argues that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the "finality" analysis in *Chelan County v. Nykreim*, 146 Wn.2d 904, 52 P.3d 1 (2002). It does not. First, Durland's argument presupposes that in 1981 there was a legal requirement imposed by the County on Smith, by way of a building permit, to locate the barn 10 feet from the boundary. As discussed *supra*, there was no permit, and no such legal requirement, and the Court of Appeals decision therefore did not turn on a *Nykreim* analysis.

Durland argues that *Nykreim* required Smith to have mounted some kind of legal challenge back in 1981. But LUPA was enacted in 1995, and thus could not have controlled the 1981 permit activities. Moreover, the *Nykreim* line of cases involved either an unhappy applicant, or a complaining neighbor, who wanted a County permitting decision reversed by the superior court via LUPA petition. This case

involves the exact opposite: everyone was content in 1981, but now, in 2017, Durland wants the court to *enforce* a regulatory requirement that supposedly should have existed back in 1981, but which (because of Res. 58-1977) lacked the necessary enabling legislation, and to *enforce* the terms of a non-existent building permit. This makes no sense.

Indeed, Durland's quote from *Nykreim (Petition at 14)*, actually supports Heinmiller's position. It is Heinmiller who is entitled to rely on Res. 58-1977 and the absence of a 1981 permit. ² As the Court of Appeals pointed out, Durland was not even on the scene in 1981 to "rely" on an alleged 10 foot setback requirement when the barn was built, and took no action to his detriment even if he did have such a belief at some point. Durland wants this Court to speculate on the supposed existence of a 1981 permit, and on supposed language therein, to do for him what he did not do in the 1990 boundary line adjustment that he negotiated and signed: forbid the use of an ADU in the barn. Nothing in RAP 13.4 supports a grant of review here.

Finally, Durland claims that review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) is warranted under "the laws of contemporaneous public policy." *Petition at 1, 11.* This does not articulate any known basis for review under RAP 13.4, or even a cognizable legal theory.

-

 $^{^2}$ The Examiner made no factual finding as to whether a building permit ever issued in 1981 (**CP 42-43**), and explained that this was irrelevant to the ultimate decision; thus the Examiner's added commentary about finality and whether or how Durland could challenge a permit if it *had* been issued back in 1981 (**CP 43**) were mere dicta.

B. The Court of Appeals decision was based on the unique facts and law applicable to this 35 year old project, and does not conflict with any other Court of Appeals decision.

Nor is there any conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and any other Court of Appeals decision, as required by RAP 13.4(b)(2). This not a case where this court must choose between two Court of Appeals decisions that are inherently inconsistent and in conflict with each other. *Cf. Grisby v. Herzog*, 190 Wn. App. 786, 362 P.3d 763 (2015) (addressing conflicting Division One decisions as to whether a person facing revocation of community custody status is entitled to a right to counsel at the revocation hearing, under Fifth Amendment due process protections as articulated in *Gagnon v. Scarpelli*, 411 US 778, 93 S.Ct. 1756, 36 L.Ed. 656 (1973)).

Durland appears to recognize that he cannot meet this standard, because he frames the issue as the Court of Appeals decision allowing "inconsistent and arbitrary decisions, contradicting long-standing government practices, and undermining the public's confidence" *Petition at 1.* But these generalized and overwrought claims do not actually articulate a basis for review under RAP 13.4.

Here, the Court of Appeals did not apply the law in a fashion which would create the opposite result from what a different panel or Division has reached addressing the same legal question in an analogous factual and legal setting, as was the case in *Grisby*. There are no factually or legally analogous Court of Appeals decisions because this

case involves its own, unique set of facts stretching back 35 years to the original barn construction (and the local County code in effect at that time) and, more recently, the particular procedural history that unfolded between 2008 and 2014 as the parties to this case tried to unravel what had gone on in 1981 and tried to advance their positions before the Hearing Examiner and multiple reviewing courts.

C. <u>Durland has not shown that the Court of Appeals decision raises state or federal constitutional issues which raise "a significant question of law," nor has he shown an issue of substantial public interest.</u>

RAP 13.4(b)(3) provides for review when a significant question of law is presented in a constitutional setting. In his appeal to the superior court, Durland did raise a constitutional due process argument under RCW 36.70C.130(10(f) (**CP 13, 1402-04**), but he abandoned that argument in his Court of Appeals briefing. He cannot resurrect it now, and he does not even articulate a colorable constitutional argument in his Petition.

Durland claims that "the issues require this Court to affirmatively rule that no land use permits can be challenged or reversed ad hoc by local government." *Petition at 11*. This is not an accurate characterization of the Court of Appeals decision, because it presupposes that a building permit *was* issued, and that the permit contained certain requirements as to setback, and that the applicable law in fact imposed those requirements. But no permit was ever produced

or submitted as evidence, and the Superior Court's and Court of Appeals' decisions applied a logical and correct interpretation of Res. 58-1977, under which no permit would have existed or been required for the barn, and no setback requirements existed.

This case is unusual because of its long history, and the challenges in developing and interpreting evidence that dates back 35+ years. The facts and history of this case are *sui generis*, and the Court of Appeals decision relied on that specific set of facts, applied to the specific issues raised by Durland in huis LUPA petition, and in light of the factual findings that the Hearing Examiner made. There simply is no broad issue of public interest involved here which would warrant this Court's involvement, as required under RAP 13.4.

D. <u>Heinmiller should be awarded attorney fees on this petition</u>.

Heinmiller prevailed in the Court of Appeals and was awarded attorney fees. Heinmiller therefore requests an award of attorney fees in responding to Durland's petition. RAP 18.1(j); RCW 4.84.370.

IV. CONCLUSION

Durland has failed to show how any of the RAP 13.4(b) criteria are satisfied here. He has had a full and fair opportunity to air his grievances before the Hearing Examiner and multiple appellate courts. There was no error by the Hearing Examiner, or by the superior court, or by the Court of Appeals, and there is no basis for this Court to accept review of a case based on unusual and specific facts occurring long ago,

and applying a legal framework (Res. 58-1977) that no longer exists. The Petition should be denied.